
 
Regular Meeting 

Tuesday, January 19, 2021 
6:00 pm 

Chowan County Public Safety Center 
305 West Freemason Street 

 
This meeting was recorded. A copy of the recording is in the meeting file labeled January 19, 
2021. 

 
Present Chair Bob Kirby, Commissioners, Chris Evans, Ron Cummings, Larry McLaughlin, 
Tray Taylor, Alex Kehayes and Ellis Lawrence. 
 
Staff present County Manager Kevin Howard, Finance Officer Cathy Smith and Board Clerk 
Susanne Stallings. 
 
Regular Meeting 
Chair Kirby called the regular meeting to order and led all in the pledge of allegiance.  
 
Commissioner Cummings then offered the invocation. 
 
Approval of Agenda  
 
Ms. Stallings noted a request to amend the agenda to add a discussion about approval of a 
Commissioner educational opportunity. 
 
Commissioner Lawrence moved to approve the agenda as amended. Chair Kirby asked for all in 
favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Public Comment 
Ms. Stallings noted that no public was signed up to speak and none was submitted. 
 
Consent Agenda 
All items on the Consent Agenda are considered to be routine and may be enacted by one motion. 
If a County Commissioner requests discussion on an item, the item will be removed from the 
Consent Agenda and considered separately. 
 

a. Approval of Minutes 
Attached are the minutes of the January 4, 2021 meeting for the Board’s review and 
consideration.  

 
Ms. Stallings noted a correction to the minutes to add the motion for approval of the budget 
amendments. She noted the motion will state: “Commissioner McLaughlin moved to approve the 
budget amendments as presented. Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed 
unanimously (7-0). 
 

b. Tax Refund/Release Report 
Balance, T.  $476.12 Paid twice 



White, C.  $125.00 Overpayment 
Donnelly, A. $630.88 Paid twice 
Smith, D.  $796.41 Overpayment 
Ward, J.  $195.22 BOC approved duplicate building removal 6/1/20,  

Clerical error duplicate was not removed and 
rebilled. 

 
Commissioner McLaughlin moved to approve the consent agenda as presented. Chair Kirby 
asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
North Carolina Container on Barge Shuttle, Marine Highway Designation 
The Board skipped over this item until later in the agenda as the speaker was not present. 

 
Tax Property Surplus 
Board Clerk Susanne Stallings noted that the following properties are tax foreclosures which did 
not sell during the foreclosure process.  If the property does not sale at the foreclosure sale, the 
County has taken ownership of the property the County forgive the taxes owed, pays attorney fee 
and suit costs. Staff has determined the property is of no use for the County and recommends that 
the properties be sold via upset bid outlined in the general statutes (NCGS §153A-176 and 
§160A-269). She stated that Tax Administrator Melissa Radke could answer questions regarding 
the properties and foreclosure. She provided the Board with a list of properties recommended to 
be surplus and sold. Some interested parties have already submitted an initial bid offer, if there is 
a pending bid it has been noted in the description beside the property. She noted that the Board 
will consider the following for each property: 

-  declaring the property as surplus 
- consider the bid submitted (if applicable). If the Board wishes to accept the 

bid they will authorize staff to proceed with the upset bid advertisement 
process. If the Board wishes to establish a different minimum bid it will be in 
order to note the minimum bid amount at this time.  
 

Commissioner Lawrence discussed combining the lots that are adjacent to increase the size of the 
lot. 
 
Ms. Radke stated the County is the legal owner and is able to combine the lots if they wish. 
 
Ms. Stallings stated she was not clear about the procedure if there would be any legal expense for 
deed recordation. She also discussed the costs for advertisement of the surplus property each 
time the bid is upset. 
 
Ms. Stallings presented the first two properties 215 and 217 Manteo Trail. 
 
Commissioner Kehayes asked if was the same bidder for both, Ms. Stallings stated yes.  
 
Commissioner Kehayes stated that the cost of the ads 
 
Commissioner Cummings noted that in Arrowhead two lots have to be purchased to build. He 
stated the current lots are not large enough for septic or a home, and most often two lots are 
required. 



 
Commissioner Kehayes and Commissioner Lawrence discussed the cost effectiveness of 
combining the lots to save on the advertisement costs. 
 
Commissioner Lawrence stated he would recommend combining the Munsee Trail lots. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin asked about the upset bid process and asked for clarification on the 
liability the County assumes. 
 
Ms. Stallings stated yes, for all properties owned by the County, the County assumes liability. 
 
Chair Kirby stated that he became aware that the previous property owner of one of the 
foreclosures lots has placed a bid for the property. He stated he has concerns that the previous 
owner owed over $12,000 in back taxes and legal fees however the bidder has placed a bid of 
$3,000. He stated he has concerns over the county being forced to sell the property back to the 
previous owner if they are the high bidder.  
 
Ms. Stallings stated she was not aware of anything that prohibits the County from not selling the 
property to the highest bidder. 
 
Commissioner Lawrence asked what remains on the books after a foreclosure. 
 
Ms. Radke stated the books are zeroed out when the foreclosure is final. 
 
Commissioner Evans asked for clarification on the bid advertisement process. 
 
Ms. Stallings stated that she will do everything possible to keep the bid advertisement within the 
requirements of the law but reduce as much wording as possible. 
 
Commissioner Evans discussed the costs the county will incur for the advertisement.  
 
Ms. Radke noted that the County is currently not collecting taxes because the County owns the 
property and they are exempt. 
 
Commissioner Cummings stated that it is important to get these properties back on the books. 
 
Board members discussed the pros and cons of setting the initial bid to high. 
 
215 Manteo Trail Chowan County has received a bid of $1,000 to purchase real 

property owned by Chowan County located at 215 Manteo Trail 
(PIN 6970-15-53-4585) Property consists of a parcel of vacant 
land of approximately .14 acres as described in Deed Book 524, 
page 380 of the Chowan County Public Registry.  The minimum 
bid at foreclosure was $1,744.55 which includes taxes owed and 
fees, this bid was not met. 

 
217 Manteo Trail   Chowan County has received a bid of $1,000 to purchase real 

property owned by Chowan County located at 217 Manteo Trail 



(PIN 6970-15-53-4536) Property consists of a parcel of vacant 
land of approximately .14 acres as described in Deed Book 524, 
page 380 of the Chowan County Public Registry.  The minimum 
bid at foreclosure was $1733.67 which includes taxes owed and 
fees, this bid was not met. 

 
Commissioner Cummings moved to declare both 215 and 217 Manteo Trail as surplus and to 
authorize to initiate the upset bid process for the current minimum bid received of $1,000. Chair 
Kirby asked for all in favor the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 

 
 
129 West Peterson St. Chowan County has received a bid of $1500 to purchase real 

property owned by Chowan County located at 129 West Peterson 
St.  (PIN 7805-19-61-5435) Property consists of a parcel of vacant 
land of approximately .13 acres as described in Deed Book 524, 
page 380 of the Chowan County Public Registry.  The minimum 
bid at foreclosure was $3,810.08 which includes taxes owed and 
fees, this bid was not met. 

 
Commissioner McLaughlin moved to declare 129 West Peterson as surplus and to authorize to 
initiate the upset bid process for the current minimum bid received of $1,500. Chair Kirby asked 
for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 

 
 

128 West Peterson Chowan County has received a bid of $3000 to purchase real 
property owned by Chowan County located at 128 West Peterson 
St.  (PIN 7805-19-61-5680) Property consists of a single family 
residential unit and .13 acres as described in Deed Book 522, page 
174 of the Chowan County Public Registry. The minimum bid at 
foreclosure was $7,782.38 which includes taxes owed and fees, 
this bid was not met.  

 
Commissioner McLaughlin moved to declare 128 West Peterson as surplus and to authorize to 
initiate the upset bid process for the current minimum bid received of $3,000. Chair Kirby asked 
for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 

 
 

Off of 211 East Hicks St. Chowan County has received a bid of $1000 to purchase real 
property owned by Chowan County located off of 211 E Hicks St.  
(PIN 7805-20-81-8536) Property consists of a parcel of vacant 
land of approximately .15 acres as described in Deed Book 509, 
page 940 of the Chowan County Public Registry. The minimum 
bid at foreclosure was $2,493.86 which includes taxes owed and 
fees, this bid was not met.  

 
Commissioner McLaughlin moved to declare the property off of 211 East Hicks St. as surplus 
and to authorize to initiate the upset bid process for the current minimum bid received of 
$1,000. Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 



 
 
310 Munsee Trail Chowan County has received a bid of $516.67 to purchase real 

property owned by Chowan County located off of 310 Munsee 
Trail.  (PIN 6970-08-88-2540) Property consists of a parcel of 
vacant land of approximately .13 acres as described in Deed Book 
522 page 178 of the Chowan County Public Registry. The 
minimum bid at foreclosure was $1595.04 which includes taxes 
owed and fees, this bid was not met. 

 
312 Munsee Trail Chowan County has received a bid of $516.67 to purchase real 

property owned by Chowan County located off of 312 Munsee 
Trail.  (PIN 6970-08-82-2486) Property consists of a parcel of 
vacant land of approximately .13 acres as described in Deed Book 
522 page 178 of the Chowan County Public Registry. The 
minimum bid at foreclosure was $1595.04 which includes taxes 
owed and fees, this bid was not met. 

 
314 Munsee Trail Chowan County has received a bid of $516.66 to purchase real 

property owned by Chowan County located off of 314 Munsee 
Trail.  (PIN 6970-08-88-3412) Property consists of a parcel of 
vacant land of approximately .13 acres as described in Deed Book 
522 page 178 of the Chowan County Public Registry. The 
minimum bid at foreclosure was $1595.05 which includes taxes 
owed and fees, this bid was not met. 

 
Planner Brandon Shoaf clarified the procedure for lot combination which would only require an 
affidavit prepared by the County and no deed work.  
 
Commissioner Lawrence moved to have staff prepare an affidavit to combine the three lots into 
one lot and bring back to the next meeting for bid/surplus consideration. 
 
309 Coral Ln. Real property owned by Chowan County located off of 309 Coral 

Lane.  (PIN 7813-14-44-2727) Property consists of a parcel of 
vacant land of approximately .19 acres as described in Deed Book 
522 page 176 of the Chowan County Public Registry. The 
minimum bid at foreclosure was $2,287.13 which includes taxes 
owed and fees, this bid was not met. There is currently no pending 
bid on this property. 

 
Ms. Stallings noted that there is no minimum bid received for this property. 
 
Commissioner Lawrence moved to declare 309 Coral Lane as surplus and to authorize to initiate 
the upset bid process for a minimum bid of $1,000. Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the 
motion passed unanimously (7-0). 

 
 



117 Mic Mac Trail Real property owned by Chowan County located off of 117 Mic 
Mac Trail.  (PIN 6971-20-70-8031) Property consists of a parcel of 
vacant land of approximately .13 acres as described in Deed Book 
519 page 417 of the Chowan County Public Registry. The 
minimum bid at foreclosure was $1687.80 which includes taxes 
owed and fees, this bid was not met. There is currently no pending 
bid on this property. 

 
Ms. Stallings noted that staff received a bid of $400 that same day. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin moved to declare 117 Mic Mac Trail as surplus and to authorize to 
initiate the upset bid process for the current minimum bid received of $400. Chair Kirby asked 
for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 

 
 
Planning Items 
Planner Brandon Shoaf provided the Board with a request for a monies to be moved into the 
Budget Line Item 11-4910-455-00 in the amount of $6,500 to fund potential demolition and 
debris removal for Planning Nuisance Enforcement at 712 Surfside Drive. He noted that the 
property as it currently is, is a danger and a nuisance.   
 
Commissioner McLaughlin noted the Board is not condemning the property however he asked 
where the quote of $6,500 came from. 
 
Mr. Shoaf stated that he had Frankie Brown look at the property and he quoted $4,800 he stated 
he added to the quote to allow for some cushion. He stated the monies are in the building 
inspections salary line from savings of not filling the Administrative Assistant position. He 
discussed the process of demolition and noted that a lien will be placed on the property. 
 
Commissioner Lawrence moved to approve the bid for demolition, after some discussion he 
rescinded his motion. He then moved to budget $6,500 for demolition from the salary line. Chair 
Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 

 
Ag Building Change Order 
County Manager Kevin Howard provided the Board with a change order in the amount of 
$3,897.74 for the HVAC work at the Ag Building. He stated that the original plan was to replace 
the two motors. He stated the plan is to repair the motor assembly and the second fan will be kept 
for parts.  
 
Commissioner Lawrence asked what is the guarantee for ventilation problems. 
 
Mr. Howard stated the engineer was on site to make sure this will work. He stated that one day 
they may need to encapsulate the building however the plan has the engineers stamp of approval. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin moved to approve the change order as presented. Chair Kirby asked 
for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Animal Shelter Parking Lot Engineering 



Mr. Howard provided the Board with a letter of agreement between Chowan County and the 
Timmons Group for design of improvements to the parking lot at the Tri-County Animal Shelter. 
The contract amount is $10,300. He stated this design will help with redirecting water away from 
the building. He stated that there are some monies budgeted for the design and once the design is 
complete the County will put the project out for bid and split the costs between the three counties 
over a two year budget period.  
 
Commissioner McLaughlin stated this was a good step to take. He then moved to approve the 
request as presented. Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 

 
CDBG Block Grant 
Commissioner McLaughlin stated that he has requested that the Board consider a citizen request 
that Chowan County apply for CDBG grant funds to assist residents with home repair. Previous 
Boards have chosen to not seek these funds based on previous County liability and legal expense. 
He stated that the resident has contacted him on numerous occasions to ask that the County 
reconsider applying for these grant funds for home repairs.  
 
Mr. Howard provided the Board with information on the grant process from 2020. He noted the 
2021 has not been announced however the process begins in April.  He stated that the application 
process is complicated and most Counties hire a grant manager to handle the funds and projects.  
He explained that once the grant is activated and a property is approved, a lien for the amount of 
funds expended on the project is placed on the property for a set term.  He stated that the 
property cannot be sold or the lien would have to be paid back in full. He stated that there is no 
in house staff currently to manage this type of project. He stated he has inquired of neighboring 
counties to see who is applying for these funds.  
 
The Board discussed the grant funds and compared them to similar funding sources.   
 
Mr. Howard stated he will pull together more information on the grant process and lay out the 
pros and cons, he suggested this topic be placed on the retreat agenda.  

 
Elections Annual Report 
Elections Director Terrence Meyers provided the Board with the annual update from the 
Elections Department. 
 
Board members commended the Elections Department on a job well done with the 2020 election 
amid all the COVID concerns. 

 
Financial Items 
Budget Amendments 
Finance Officer Cathy Smith presented the budget amendments. 
 
BA2021-034 



 
BA2021-035 

Capital Projects
Contribution from Capital Reserve 10,070.00               
DSS HVAC Repairs 10,070.00             

Fund Balance Appropriation 10,070.00               
Transfer to Capital Projects 10,070.00             

Balanced 20,140.00               20,140.00             

Justification:

To amend the 2021 budget to inlude HVAC Repairs for DSS.  The project was 
included in the Capital Improvement Plan and the proposal from Envirocon 

was approved by the BOCC at the 01/04/21 meeting.

Capital Reserve
33-3990-990-00
33-9800-980-32

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

32-3810-033-00
32-8100-455-00



 

*Preservation/Automation 778.98                     
*Dept Supplies - Auto/Pres 259.66                   
*Contr Svcs - Automation/Pres 259.66                   
*C/O - Auto / Pres 259.66                   

*Sheriff Donations 505.00                     
*Donation - Expense 505.00                   
*KIDS & COPS (3.00)                        
*KIDS & COPS Expense (3.00)                      
*Safe Kids Program 480.00                     
*Safe Kids Expense 480.00                   

*Donations - Chowan 865.00                     
*Donations - Gates 65.00                       
*Donations - Perquimans 469.98                     
*Donation - Expense 1,399.98               
*Adoption - Chowan 350.00                     
*Adoption - Other 190.00                     
*Contr Svcs - Spay/Neuter 540.00                   
*A.W.A.R.E. Reimbursement 3,743.80                 
*A.W.A.R.E. Reimbursement 3,743.80               

*SHIIP Grant 4,774.00                 
*SHIIP Grant 4,774.00               
*Hospital Foundation Grant 4,550.00                 
*Hospital Foundation Grant 4,550.00               
*AG Program Fees Discretionary 350.00                     
*Ag Program Discretionary 350.00                   
*4-H Fees Discretionary (3,310.00)                
*4-H Fees Discretionary (3,310.00)              
*ECA Discretionary 20.00                       
*ECA Discretionary 20.00                     

*Recreation Special Events 395.00                     
*Recreation Special Events 395.00                   

*Donations - Home Del Meals 1,065.00                 
*Donations - Home Del Meals 1,065.00               
*Reg Fees - Trips 60.00                       
*TRIPS - Senior Citizens 60.00                     
*Registration Fees Activities 303.00                     
*Activities - Dept. Supplies 303.00                   
*Healthways 69.00                       
*Healthways 69.00                     

Balanced 15,720.76               15,720.76             

Total Discretionary Income Received FYE 2021 73,494.29              

Justification:

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

Register of Deeds
11-3418-415-00
11-4180-298-00
11-4180-440-00
11-4180-511-00

11-3431-245-00

Sheriff's Office
11-3431-232-00
11-4317-440-00
11-3431-243-00
11-4317-443-00

11-4317-445-00
Animal Shelter

11-3438-894-00
11-3438-894-01
11-3438-894-02
11-4381-600-00
11-3438-895-00

11-4952-600-00

11-3438-895-03
11-4381-441-00
11-3438-897-00
11-4381-601-00

Cooperative Ext:
11-3495-363-00
11-4950-600-00
11-3495-368-00

11-3495-370-00
11-4953-440-00
11-3495-378-00
11-4953-448-00
11-3495-380-00
11-4953-450-00

Senior Center

Recreation
11-3612-504-00
11-6132-453-00

11-3616-532-00
11-4268-904-01
11-3616-533-00
11-4268-312-00
11-3616-533-01
11-4268-299-01
11-3616-535-03
11-4268-352-02

To amend the 2021 budget to include Discretionary income received 
through December 2020.



BA2021-036 

 
BA2021-037 

 
 
Commissioner Cummings moved to approve the budget amendments as presented. Chair Kirby 
asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 

 
Educational Opportunity 
Ms. Stallings presented the Board with information on a class that Chair Kirby would like to 
attend on Water and Wastewater Finance Strategies. She noted the cost for the class is $295 and 
asked that the Board approve all registration costs. She added that there may be hotel expenses 
included. 
 
Commissioner Evans moved to approve the expenditure as presented. Chair Kirby asked for all 
in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
External Board/Committee Report 

TDA
Co-Op Monies 107.11                     
Office Supplies - Co-Op 107.11                   
Co-Op Advertising 4,114.00                 
Co-Op Advertising 4,114.00               

Balanced 4,221.11                 4,221.11               

Justification:

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

51-3815-530-00
51-8150-261-01
51-3832-530-00
51-8150-370-01

To amend the 2021 budget for TDA to include Discretionary and Co-Op 
income through the month of December 2020.

DSS
Unemployment (10,000.00)            
Professional Services 10,000.00             

Balanced -                           -                         

Justification:
To amend the 2021 budget for DSS to include additional attorney fees.  No 

additional funding is being requested.  Monies are being transferred 
between line items.

12-5310-199-00
12-5310-185-00

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 



Chair Kirby noted that Board members are asked to report on the activities of the external boards 
to which they have been appointed. 
 
Chair Kirby reported on the activities of the ECP Board. 

 
North Carolina Container on Barge Shuttle, Marine Highway Designation 
Mr. Howard stated that back on July 28, 2020 the Board of Commissioners voted to sponsor the 
Marine Highway Project Designation application and accompanying MOU between Chowan 
County, Stevens Towing Co. of NC, SEACOR Inland River and SEACOR AMH LLC to obtain 
a Marine Highway Designation for the North Carolina Container on Barge Shuttle Operation 
originating from the River bulk Terminal in Chowan County NC to the Port of Virginia in 
Hampton Roads.  He stated that Simon Rich was not able to attend the meeting however in the 
future projects wishing to apply for federal funds for the project will come to the County seeking 
approval. He stated he will see if Mr. Rich can come to a future meeting to present more 
information. 
 
Commissioner Cummings stated that the increased activity will also mean an increase of traffic 
on the secondary roads to that site. He stated that DOT may wish to seek additional funds from 
this project to improve the roads for the container traffic.  

 
Manager’s Report 
County Manager Kevin Howard updated the Board on the following: 

 
- ALC Farm Bid and Red Banks Farm Bid lease 

Properties have been advertised for bids. All bids are in and now staff is preparing to 
advertise a lease and the lease will be on a future meeting agenda. 
 

- Retreat Dates and location 
Board members discussed potential meeting locations within the county as previous 
locations are not currently booking because of COVID restrictions.  Ms. Stallings will 
call around and come back with more information. 

 
Timely and Important Matters 
Commissioner Cummings asked about the status of leases for the convenience sites. 
 
Mr. Howard stated that staff is working on draft leases and letters to go out to the site owners. 
 
Ms. Stallings noted the following: 
 
Board of Equalization and Review (E&R) training is scheduled for March 11th or March 18th. 
Please let her know which date you wish to sign up for. 
 
Essentials Training for new Commissioners starts on January 22nd.  
 
Board vacancies are being advertised online and they will be on a future agenda. 
 
Jack the Dog who was a long time donor and supporter of the Tri-County Animal Shelter has 
died. Ms. Stallings noted that the County is forwarding a card to Jack’s owner Judge Tom 



Ammos.  She noted the various contributions that Jack has made to the shelter totaling over 
$15,000.  She stated these funds paid for play yard and fencing, the wrap on the shelter van, a 
bathing ‘spa’ is being installed and another $5,000 has been set aside to go towards the new 
shelter construction in the future.  
 
Commissioner Kirby expressed his concerns over the use of the Hyper-Reach system calls for 
School notifications.  

 
Closed Session 
Commissioner Cummings moved that the Board go into closed session, in accordance with NCGS 
143-318 (11) (a) (6) personnel. Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed 
unanimously (7-0). 
 
The minutes of the closed session are sealed. 
 
Commissioner Evans moved to come out of closed session. Chair Kirby asked for all in favor the 
motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Adjourn 
Being no further business Commissioner Kehayes moved to adjourn the meeting. Chair Kirby 
asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
 
 

_______________________________________  ______________________________ 

Bob Kirby, Chairman      Susanne Stallings, Clerk 


